IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 19-1981
Muscatine County No. FECR059164

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

ANNETTE DEE CAHILL,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR MUSCATINE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE PATRICK A. MCELYEA

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

ATTORNEY GENERAL
Hoover State Office Bldg.
Des Moines, Iowa 50319

Elizabeth A. Araguás
NIDEY ERDAHL
MEIER & ARAGUÁS, PLC
425 Second Street SE., Ste. 1000
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52401
Telephone: 319-369-0000
Facsimile: 310-369-6972

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Statement of the Issues Presented for Review

I. Whether the Court erred in its denial of Defendant's Motion to Compel testing of the four hairs found in Wieneke's hand at the crime scene.

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 1196–97, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963)
Cone v. Bell, 556 U.S. 449, 469–470, 129 S.Ct. 1769, 173 L.Ed.2d 701 (2009).
United States v. Helmich, 521 F. Supp. 1246 (M.D. Fla. 1981); *judgment aff'd*, 704 F.2d 547 (11th Cir. 1983).

II. Whether the Court erred in denying Defendant's 5.104 Motions and allowing the jury to be influenced by the unreliable and incredible testimony of Jessica Becker, Cynthia Krogh, and Scott Payne.

State v. Veverka, 938 N.W.2d 197, 202 (Iowa 2020)
Graham v. Chicago & N.W.Ry.Co. 119 N.W.708, 711 (Iowa 1909)

III. Whether the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict that Cahill "struck" Wieneke, therefore the Trial Court should have granted Cahill's Motion for New Trial.

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 172 (Iowa 2011), *as amended on denial of reh'g* (Nov. 3, 2011).
State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577, 579 (Iowa 2011).
State v. Jacobs, 607 N.W.2d 679, 682 (Iowa 2000)
State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006).
State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 339 (Iowa 1980).
State v. Tumer, 345 N.W.2d 553, 555-556 (Iowa 1983).
State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27-28 (Iowa 2005).
State v. Pastner, 205 N.C. App. 566, 571–72, 697 S.E.2d 381, 385 (N.C. 2010).

IV. Whether the delay in prosecution of Cahill violated her right to Due Process of Law, as guaranteed by Article I, Section 10 of the Iowa Constitution, and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 295 (1973).

Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986).
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).
United States v. Helmich, 521 F. Supp. 1246 (M.D. Fla. 1981); *judgment aff'd*, 704 F.2d 547 (11th Cir. 1983).
United States v. Sherlock, 962 F.2d 1349, 1354 (9th Cir. 1989).
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 17-19 (1967).
State v. Luck, 15 Ohio St. 3d 150, 472 N.E.2d 1097 (1984).
State v. Trompeter, 555 N.W.2d 468, 470 (1971).

State v. Brown, 656 N.W.2d 355, 363 (Iowa 2003).

State v. Eads, 166 N.W.2d 766, 773 (Iowa 1969).

State v. Edwards, 571 N.W.2d 497, 501 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997).

State v. Van Scoyoc, 511 N.W.2d 628, 630 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993).

Routing Statement

Pursuant to Rule 6.1101(2)(c) of the Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure, this is a case presenting substantial issues of first impression therefore, this case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court.

Statement of the Case

Annette Cahill was charged with Murder in the First Degree in a Complaint issued May 31st, 2018, in relation to the October 1992 death of Corey Wieneke. Cahill was tried in March of 2019; the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict, and the Court declared a mistrial on March 13th, 2019. Cahill was retried in September of 2019, and was found guilty of Murder in the Second Degree on September 19th, 2019. She was sentenced on November 22nd to a fifty year indeterminate prison sentence.

Cahill filed several pretrial motions which were denied by the Court, and those denials are appealed herein: Motion under Iowa Rules of Evidence 5.104 to exclude the testimony of Jessica Becker and Cynthia Krogh; subsequent Motion to exclude testimony of Scott Payne, whom the State listed as a witness between the two trials; and a Motion to Dismiss based on pre-accusatorial delay.

At the time of the second trial, defense counsel was presented with late discovery by the State. One of these newly-discovered items was a document describing attempted DNA testing on the hairs found in Wieneke's hand at the scene of the crime. The document was incomplete (as described in the relevant sections below), though it suggested that the hairs were not suitable for testing.

After Cahill's conviction, defense counsel engaged in additional research and discovered that the hairs were never tested for mitochondrial DNA, a new method discussed at length below. Defense counsel filed a post-trial Motion to compel the State to test these hairs. This Motion was denied.

Statement of Facts

Corey Wieneke (hereafter, "Wieneke"), was killed in his residence in Muscatine County, Iowa on October 13, 1992 (Transcript p. 22, Lines 10-15). The cause of death was blunt force trauma to the head (Transcript p. 100, Lines 7-8), caused presumably by a baseball bat found at the edge of the gravel road near Wieneke's house (Transcript p. 25, Lines 24-25, p. 26, Lines 1-4).

At the time of his death, Wieneke had ongoing sexual relationships with several women (Transcript p. 309, Lines 17-23). Understanding these myriad relationships is helpful to follow the narrative of the days surrounding Wieneke's death. The Defendant Annette Cahill, had a relationship with Wieneke in the months prior to his death, fostered by Cahill's part-time employment at the Wieneke family bar, Wink's Tap, in West Liberty (Transcript p. 444, Lines 6-14). In the same time period, Wieneke also fathered a child with Wendi Marshall (Transcript p. 310, Lines 7-11). The child Wieneke conceived with Marshall was an infant at the time of Wieneke's death (Transcript p. 311, Lines 4-6). Wieneke had not officially claimed paternity of the child, and had limited interactions with her (Transcript p. 310, Lines 7-25; Transcript p. 311, Lines 4-5).

In addition to his ongoing relationships with Cahill and Marshall, Wieneke was engaged to his high-school sweetheart, Jody Hotz. Hotz and Wieneke lived together in a two-bedroom house on a small piece of land near their hometown of West Liberty (Transcript p. 28, Lines 7-8). Finally, Wieneke was engaged in a sexual relationship with Missy Morrison, who was married to another man (Transcript p. 361, Lines 13-24).

On October 12, 1992, the night before Wieneke died, he was working at Wink's Tap (Transcript p. 192, Lines 4-9). Cahill and Marshall, both of whom were romantically involved with Wieneke at the time, were also at the bar that night (Transcript p. 313, Lines 9-15). Cahill became intoxicated and went to Wieneke's car to wait for him to get off work (Transcript p. 313, Lines 19-24; p. 314, Lines 13-15). In the early morning hours of October 13th, 1992, Wieneke left the bar with Marshall and the pair got into his car (Transcript p. 314, Lines 13- 18). Cahill was annoyed that Wieneke brought another woman (Marshall) with them in the car (Transcript p. 316, 8-16). Wieneke planned to drop off Cahill at her home, and then proceed with Marshall (Transcript p. 316, Line 2). While the car was en route to Cahill's home, she became upset and tried to get out (Transcript p. 316, Lines 2-7). Wieneke stopped the car and had a conversation with Cahill at the side of the road, witnessed by Marshall (Transcript p. 316, Lines 21-22). After the conversation by the side of the road, Wieneke changed his plans and drove Marshall back to her car, which was parked behind Wink's Tap (Transcript p. 317, Lines 24-25, p. 318, Lines 1-3). At that point, he and Cahill went to Cahill's home, where they had sex (Transcript p. 481, Lines 8-9). After having sex with

Cahill, Wieneke was seen at an after-hours party in honor of a friend's birthday, and then went to Marshall's apartment in West Liberty (Transcript p. 322, Lines 21-25, p. 323, Lines 1- 8). He left a brown paper bag with a six pack of beer and two shotgun shells inside the refrigerator at Marshall's apartment (Transcript p. 322, Lines 7-13).

Wieneke finally made it home in the early morning hours of October 13, sometime before his fiancée, Hotz, left for her job as a bank teller (Transcript p. 192, Lines 16-23). Hotz saw Wieneke asleep in bed prior to leaving for work on October 13 (Transcript p. 194, Lines 2-4). Hotz found Wieneke's body upon returning home from work that day, at approximately 6:30 pm (Transcript p. 197, Lines 5-10; p. 20-24). She noted that he was cold to the touch (Transcript p. 200, Lines 10-14). She called 911 immediately (Transcript p. 200, Lines 13-16).

There were no signs of forced entry to the house (Transcript p. 42, Lines 9-12). The house would not have been difficult to enter because, according to witnesses, only a piece of particle board blocked the space where a pane of glass had been, near the doorknob (Transcript p. 44, Lines 10-15). This particle board had been removed and was sitting near the side of the house after the murder (Transcript p. 41, Lines 20-25, p. 42, Lines 1-4). There did not appear to law enforcement, or Hotz, to have been any property stolen or disturbed in the home (Transcript p. 42, Lines 9-12, p. 200, Lines 22-24). Wieneke's pet dog had been released into the yard, where she was running freely when Hotz arrived home (Transcript p. 197, Lines 18-25, p. 198, Lines 1-6).

Wieneke's body was found, face-down, on the floor near his bed (Transcript p.

111, Lines 17-18). He was wearing a pair of briefs (Transcript p. 111, Lines 19-20). Wieneke sustained 13 blunt force injuries, only one of which—the blow to the back of his head—could have been fatal (Transcript p. 100, Lines 11-23, p. 102, Lines 16-23). Wieneke sustained the other injuries prior to his death (Transcript p. 105, Lines 4-14). Wieneke was a large young man, at 5’9” tall and 225 pounds (Transcript p. 112, Lines 6-7). He was physically strong and had played football in high school (Transcript p. 202, Lines 16-17).

A reporter with a local news station found a bloody, youth-size aluminum bat near the side of the road, about a quarter mile east of Wieneke’s house (Transcript p. 78, Lines 20-22). There were no fingerprints found on the bat (Transcript p. 235, Lines 20-25, p. 236 Lines 1-2).. The blood on the bat was of the same type as Wieneke (Transcript p. 40, Lines 4-12). There were microscopic red fibers on the bat, but no other distinctive markings (Transcript p. 47, Lines 6-19). The bat was of a type easily obtainable at Walmart in 1992 (Transcript p. 42, Lines 19-25, p. 43, Lines 1-4). Hotz denied that she or Wieneke owned a bat of any type (Transcript p. 190, Lines 4-5). No evidence was presented at trial that anyone in Cahill’s household had a bat, either. State and local law enforcement investigated the Wieneke murder in the months and years following his death (Transcript p. 43, 18-25, p. 44, 1-3). During this time, they identified three reasons Wieneke may have been murdered: drugs, gambling, and infidelity.

Wieneke was a known drug user, and his autopsy results found both cocaine and

marijuana in his system (Transcript p. 111, Lines 10-13; p. 133, Lines 10-17; p. 323, Lines 10-15). Wieneke sourced his drugs from multiple individuals, including suppliers Slim Zamora, Ken Hammond, and Otis Sanders (Transcript p. 59, Lines 6-13; p. 134, Lines 5-17). In the late night and early morning hours shortly before he was killed, Wieneke attended an after-hours party with one of his drug suppliers, Slim Zamora (Transcript p. 58, Lines 15-25, p. 59, Lines 1-13). At trial, the defense argued that an unpaid debt to one of his suppliers may have been a motive for the baseball bat attack (Transcript p. 482, Lines 6-8). Law enforcement did, in fact, explore this possibility, but did not arrest Zamora (Transcript p. 132; Lines 16-25, p. 133, Line 1). Wieneke also ran a small illegal gambling operation from his workplace, Wink's Tap, which was discovered by investigators (Transcript p. 133, Lines 2-9). Despite the obvious potential for conflict arising from the purchase and sale of illegal drugs, the operation of an illegal gambling operation, and the transport of cash associated with such enterprises, authorities never arrested anyone who might have had reason to harm Wieneke in connection with drugs and gambling (Transcript p. 132; Lines 16-25, p. 133, Line 1).

Investigators also pursued a theory that Wieneke may have been murdered by a jealous husband of one of his romantic partners (Transcript p. 142, Lines 4-19). Around the time of his death, Wieneke was involved in sexual relationships with at least four women: his fiancée (Hotz), his two girlfriends (Marshall and Cahill), and another local woman named Missy Morrison (Transcript p. 142, Lines 4-8; p. 361, Lines 13-24). Missy Morrison's husband, Bob Morrison, was a large and violent man (Transcript p.

62, Lines 4-9; p. 138, Lines 13-20). In fact, Bob Morrison later murdered his wife Missy amid accusations of her infidelity and intent to leave him, and then killed himself (Transcript p. 138, Lines 13-20). Investigator Lieutenant Orr (later Muscatine County Sheriff, now deceased) theorized that Morrison was the real killer, but ultimately did not follow up further, because with Morrison dead, there was no one to prosecute for Wieneke's murder (Transcript p. 142, Lines 4-19).

The Morrison theory was considered credible within law enforcement on the Wieneke case, to the extent that a meeting was held in October of 1995 to discuss the numerous links between Bob Morrison, his wife, Missy, and Wieneke. A memorandum, created presumably by Orr, was circulated at this meeting. The memo was included in the original discovery items produced to Defendant, and was presented to the Trial Court as Exhibit O in the materials supporting her Motion to Dismiss. In it, the unknown author describes how “Bob was a powerfully built man” and was “of the correct height” to have committed the Wieneke homicide. Missy Morrison was known to frequent local bars, and had affairs with men younger than she was. Bob was “quick tempered” and was known for his remorseless abuse of animals and his wife. Although he was a “workaholic” who put in enormous amounts of overtime, Bob Morrison took the day off on the date of Wieneke's murder (a Tuesday).

The Wieneke death investigation team of the 1990's conducted several interviews with Cahill (Transcript p. 55, Lines 4-11), including a polygraph, which she passed. She also provided law enforcement with several samples for forensic testing: her coat and

shoes; a sample from the interior of the vehicle she was in on the day of the murder; her finger and palm prints; and her blood (Transcript p. 46, Lines 13-25; p. 47, Lines 1-19; p. 52, Lines 22-25; p. 53, Lines 1-24). None of these samples matched anything at the crime scene (Transcript p. 46, Lines 13-25; p. 47, Lines 1-19, p. 54, Lines 23-25; p. 55, Line 1). The 2018 DCI investigative team attempted testing on the fibers from Jacque Hazen's car and Annette's coat, to see if either had DNA profiles (Transcript p. 155, Lines 9-25; p. 156, Lines 1-11). The tests, which occurred in June of 2018, showed no blood or DNA on these fibers (Transcript p. 155, Lines 9-25; p. 156, Lines 1-11). On the DCI report form, several men are listed as the suspects in the Wieneke homicide: "Dennis Stromer, Corey Prowant, Robert Steven Burke, William James Wade, Steven Charles Young, et. al. (Defendant's Exhibit G)"

In 1992, Cahill lived with her brother-in-law, Denny Hazen, and Denny's wife, Jacque, in their two-story farmhouse near Atalissa, (Transcript p. 358, Lines 13-21). In the years between Wieneke's death and the onset of this prosecution, Cahill moved to Tipton, Iowa, about twenty miles from West Liberty (Transcript p. 172, Lines 15-17). In 1994, Cahill married Bill Cahill, and the two lived a quiet life, raising their children and working full-time. Outside of this case, Cahill has no criminal history. For several years, and through her pretrial release in this matter, Cahill worked at Police Law Institute, a small tech company that produces legal training videos for police officers.

In December 2017, a 34-year-old nurse named Jessica Becker approached DCI Special Agent Trent Vileta at the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, where she

worked. After attempting to “kick [SA Vileta] out of the ICU,” (Transcript p. 278, Lines 1-2), Becker then changed her approach and told SA Vileta a story from when she was nine years old (Transcript p. 278, Lines 11-25; p. 279, Lines 1-2). In this story, she told a bizarre tale of seeing Cahill lighting black candles in a dining area, and weeping in front of the candles while saying things like “Corey, I never meant to hurt you” (Transcript p. 275, Lines 1-19). Becker testified at trial that, as a nine-year-old, she asked her mother about the symbolism of black candles, and her mother replied “sometimes people light black candles, and it means they can speak to, you know, spirits or bring out evil spirits” (Transcript p. 276, Lines 17-25; p. 277, Lines 1-2). Becker’s bizarre story about black candles and evil spirits, suddenly recollected after 25 years and told to a stranger, formed the State’s entire theory of the case and led them to arrest Annette Cahill shortly thereafter.

The evidence presented at trial showed that Becker could not have witnessed the bizarre scene she described, in the way she described it. Becker testified that when she was eight to nine years old, she was friends with a group of children including Kayla Hazen, who often had sleepover parties at the Hazen home (Transcript p. 265, Lines 10-24). Kayla Hazen’s parents were Denny and Jacque Hazen (Transcript p. 358, Lines 5-25). Annette Cahill, Denny’s sister and Kayla Hazen’s aunt, also was living at the home with her children (Transcript p. 358, Lines 18-21). Becker testified that Cahill was “the fun, the favorite aunt” who would take the kids out to get “movies, scary movies, [and] pizza” (Transcript p. 266, Lines 6-12). Becker told SA Vileta that during

a sleepover party in Fall 1992, she and Kayla Hazen were sneaking down the stairs for a snack, when they heard Cahill's voice (Transcript p. 273, Lines 19-25; p. 274, Lines 1-5, 19-22). Becker testified that she and Kayla stopped on the stairs and heard Cahill speaking and crying; and that they could see her from the back side but could not see her face (Transcript p. 274, Lines 19-22; p. 284, Lines 9-11).

A few months after Becker approached Valeta at the hospital, the Department of Criminal Investigation (DCI) paid Cahill a visit at her home in Tipton (Transcript p. 171, Lines 1-9). On the day of this first encounter, SA Jon Turbett asked Cahill to go to the local sheriff's department and meet with him (Transcript p. 174, Lines 21-25; p. 175, Lines 1-2). During that interview, SA Turbett asked Cahill to draw a diagram of the Hazen house, which she did (Transcript p. 218, Lines 14-23). Cahill explained to Turbett how Jacque and Denny Hazen slept on the main floor, near the living and dining room (Defendant's Trial Exhibit H). She drew the stairway, which was fully enclosed, and the door at the base of the stairs (Transcript p. 219, Lines 11-23). When opened, this door would obscure a person's line of sight between the base of the stairs and the dining room (Transcript p. 220, Lines 1-7). At trial, the Court accepted Cahill's diagram as Defendant's Exhibit H (Transcript p. 218, Lines 14-25; p. 219, Lines 1-9). The diagram shows that it would be impossible to be on the stairs of the Hazen home, or to peer around that door, and see a pacing figure in the dining room. Therefore, Becker's claim that she could see Cahill in the dining room from her perch on the staircase was not credible.

In 1992, Jessica Becker told her “black candles” story to her mother, now known as Cynthia Krogh (Transcript p. 245, Lines 19-25, p. 246, Lines 1-24). Krogh testified she did not take her daughter, or her daughter’s story, to the police (Transcript p. 246, Line 25; p. 247, Lines 1-8). At the time of the alleged “black candles” incident, Krogh had recently been divorced from a man named Lester McGowan (Transcript p. 240, Lines 1-8). During their marriage, McGowan had affairs with a number of women, including Annette Cahill (Transcript p. 241, Lines 10-25; p. 242, Line 1). Krogh testified that she had no negative feelings toward Cahill regarding her romantic involvement with Krogh’s husband (Transcript p. 243, Lines 24-25; p. 244, Lines 1-7). However, Krogh later reunited with McGowan, and then later appeared in court to testify against Cahill as a witness for the State (Transcript p. 253, Lines 20-25). Despite her testimony, Krogh clearly has a motive to hurt Cahill in retribution for her affair with Krogh’s husband.

The State called a known criminal and heavy drug user, Scott Payne, to “corroborate” the so-called “confession” through his story of Cahill and Jacque Hazen burning clothing after Wieneke’s murder (Transcript p. 297, Lines 1-5; p. 298, Lines 4-9). Payne’s testimony was shown to be inconsistent and lacking in credibility at trial (Transcript p. 328, Lines 10-25; p. 329, Lines 1-7). Payne also testified he was unhappy with Jacque Hazen over an unpaid loan he extended to her in the mid-nineties (Transcript p. 329, Lines 8-16) and he thus had a motive to be untruthful in his testimony about her.

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