IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19–1981

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

ANNETTE DEE CAHILL,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR MUSCATINE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE PATRICK MCELYEA, JUDGE

APPELLEE’S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

ALAN OSTERGREN
Muscatine County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **The trial court did not err in denying Cahill’s post-trial motions to compel DNA testing and for a new trial.**

Preservation of Error

After trial, Cahill argued that the existence of the hairs and the availability of additional DNA testing was newly discovered evidence, and that performing those tests could have generated more evidence. *See* Supplemental Motion to Compel Discovery (11/19/19); App. 304. The court ruled on the newly-discovered-evidence claim. *See* Sent.Tr. 4:16–6:6. Error is preserved to renew that claim. *See Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012). But Cahill is not doing that.

Instead, Cahill is arguing that the district court should have ordered mtDNA testing under section 81.10. *See* Def’s Br. at 19–23. But the district court ruled on Cahill’s motions as claims alleging newly discovered evidence, under Rule 2.24(2)(b)(8). *See* Sent.Tr. 5:10–6:6; Sent.Tr. 7:15–24. Cahill did not challenge the absence of a direct ruling on her other claims. *See* Sent.Tr. 9:16–19. This means that error is not preserved to argue that the district court erred in denying a claim under section 81.10, because it never considered or ruled on such a claim. *See Lamasters*, 821 N.W.2d at 863–64 & n.2; *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537–41 (Iowa 2002).

Standard of Review

Review of rulings on motions about newly discovering evidence is for abuse of discretion. *See State v. Compiano*, 154 N.W.2d 845, 489 (Iowa 1967). The district court has “unusually broad” discretion in assessing the hypothetical impact of newly discovered evidence on the outcome. *See State v. Miles*, 490 N.W.2d 798, 799 (Iowa 1992).

Merits

This claim involves a page from the DCI criminalistics lab that was not captioned correctly, and was left out of the investigative file. *See Partial DCI Report (11/22/19)*; App. 342. It stated that hairs that were found in Wieneke’s hand were not suitable for DNA STR analysis. Other materials in the file had mentioned that those hairs existed and had been collected, and Cahill’s counsel had cross-examined witnesses about whether those hairs had ever been tested. *See TrialTr. 108:21–110:15*; *TrialTr. 124:9–126:6*; *Def’s Ex. F-11*. After related questioning, the prosecutor reviewed the file to double-check, which led to this:

When we broke for lunch I wanted to review the file to refresh my own memory about that, and looking at the lab reports that we had that are a part of discovery, there’s additional entries that show the lab broke down that submission into the fibers that were submitted and the hair and they were trying to figure out what the lab had done with it. And not being immediately able to tell from the report, Agent Vileta called the lab and had them just pull

the file so we could figure this out. And then in the course of doing that the lab person found a document which I've since provided to Counsel which is apparently a draft lab report showing further analysis on item K.

See TrialTr. 177:13–179:10. That draft report was not captioned with identifiers that would have caused the system to include it the file for this particular case, which is why it was not found earlier. *See* TrialTr. 178:13–23. The prosecutor thought it was favorable to the State, but he acknowledged that it would not be admissible because it was unsigned and was beyond the minutes of testimony. *See* TrialTr. 179:11–180:5. From Cahill's counsel's perspective, that concession meant there was no "fighting issue" to resolve; Cahill did not make any other requests pertaining to this report during trial. *See* TrialTr. 179:25–180:11.

After trial, Cahill argued that counsel "did not realize that there was other DNA testing that could very well be done on these hairs and was within the ability of the Iowa DCI to order," and she argued that those hairs could be tested for mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which does not require full hair follicle cells (unlike DNA STR testing). *See* HearingTr. (11/21/19) 4:16–6:14. Cahill's counsel stated they did not know about mtDNA testing during trial. *See* HearingTr. 16:15–17:13. But the report was very specific about the kind of DNA analysis that could not be performed: DNA STR analysis. *See* HearingTr. 18:2–21;

Partial DCI Report (11/22/19); App. 342 (“[N]one of the human hairs were suitable for DNA STR analysis.”); *see also* TrialTr. 178:24–179:1 (“The report says specifically that none of the human hairs were suitable for DNA STR analysis.”). The district court rejected Cahill’s motion for new trial and her motion to compel post-trial discovery because it found that other discovery materials had referenced the fact that the hairs were found and collected, and Cahill’s counsel was already informed enough to seek answers about whether those hairs had been tested. *See* Sent.Tr. 4:16–5:10. Moreover, on materiality, it also held that mtDNA test results that did not match Cahill would not be likely to change the result of the trial. *See* Sent.Tr. 5:10–6:6.

Cahill’s challenge on appeal points out that section 81.10 enables district courts to order “DNA profiling be performed on a forensic sample collected in the case for which the person stands convicted.” *See* Def’s Br. at 21–22. But section 81.10 specifically authorizes a separate “proceeding for relief,” not a post-trial motion in the underlying criminal case. *See* Iowa Code § 81.10(3)(a). This is because Iowa law generally seeks to minimize delay between verdict and judgment in criminal prosecutions. *See, e.g., State v. Trane*, 934 N.W.2d 447, 464 (Iowa 2019) (cautioning Iowa district courts against

considering ineffective-assistance claims in motions for new trial because they “typically require additional record development” that “would likely delay judgment and sentencing”). Cahill disagrees, and argues that “failing to act promptly, with knowledge that an issue will only wait for postconviction relief proceedings, is error on the part of the trial court.” *See* Def’s Br. at 21–23. But Cahill’s claims under section 81.10 (along with any claims that her counsel was ineffective for failing to request a continuance for mtDNA testing, during trial) will require development of a significant factual record that does not directly bear on the fairness of the trial or the legal sufficiency of the existing factual record to support the conviction. Even if Cahill had sought a ruling on a separate application under section 81.10, it would have correct to proceed to sentencing. *See Trane*, 934 N.W.2d at 464.

Cahill misconstrues *Ortiz* to create a free-standing rule that it is reversible error for a district court to take action that does not further “the public policy of this state that litigation should be final at the earliest possible date.” *See State v. Ortiz*, 766 N.W.2d 244, 250 (Iowa 2009); Def’s Br. at 21–22. But *Ortiz* upheld a discretionary finding of good cause for delay to file a motion to suppress *before* trial, where finding waiver would create an obvious ineffective-assistance claim.

See Ortiz, 766 N.W.2d at 250. Even if a district court has discretion to consider an untimely challenge that would otherwise be litigated in a separate proceeding, that does not mean it is an abuse of discretion to decline to find good cause to pause proceedings to do so. And those finality interests would be inverted if Ortiz raised a motion to suppress *after* being convicted at trial—at that point, there would be a verdict awaiting pronouncement of judgment, and postponing sentencing to “investigate the investigation” would subvert finality interests. *Cf. Trane*, 934 N.W.2d at 464. Similarly, postponing Cahill’s sentencing to litigate a separate “application for relief” under section 81.10 would undermine those same finality interests. Thus, even if there had been a ruling that preserved this claim for review, this challenge would fail.

II. Cahill did not argue that a *Brady* violation occurred, and she cannot prove such a claim on appeal.

Preservation of Error

Cahill cross-references her previous error-preservation section. *See* Def’s Br. at 23. But she does not identify any *Brady* claim that was raised or ruled upon below. *See* Def’s Br. at 19. Therefore, error is not preserved for this challenge. *See* TrialTr. 179:25–180:11; TrialTr. 407:6–418:2; Sent.Tr. 4:16–6:6; *accord State v. Hoskins*, No. 17–1797, 2019 WL 478795, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 6, 2019).

Standard of Review

If there were a ruling on a *Brady* claim, then review would be de novo. *See DeSimone v. State*, 803 N.W.2d 97, 102 (Iowa 2011).

Merits

Cahill argues that the State violated *Brady v. Maryland* by failing to disclose exculpatory evidence until partway through trial. *See* Def's Br. at 23–26. To establish a *Brady* violation, Cahill would need to prove (1) evidence was suppressed; (2) it was exculpatory; and (3) it was material to the outcome. *See Harrington v. State*, 659 N.W.2d 509, 522 (Iowa 2003). Cahill cannot make any of those three required showings, for either of her *Brady* claims.

A. The evidence about DNA STR testing was not suppressed, not exculpatory, and not material.

First, evidence about DNA testing was not suppressed because “the defendant either knew or should have known of the essential facts permitting [her] to take advantage of the evidence.” *See State v. Piper*, 663 N.W.2d 894, 905 (Iowa 2003) (quoting *Harrington*, 659 N.W.2d at 522), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Hanes*, 790 N.W.2d 545, 551 (Iowa 2010). Cahill used the other parts of the DCI lab report in cross-examining Sheriff Ryan, which elicited responses that established that those hairs were collected during the autopsy

and sent to the DCI lab. *See* TrialTr. 124:9–125:24; State’s Ex. 34; App. 345 (describing laboratory exhibit K as “[b]ox containing hairs from victim’s left hand”). Cahill asked Sheriff Ryan if knew whether those hairs were tested. He did not know. *See* TrialTr. 124:25–127:14. Cahill had everything she needed to ask whether DNA analysis of those hairs occurred. Indeed, the DCI lab report that listed the hairs gave the name of the DCI criminalist who authored this report, and he could have been asked about his analysis of this evidence *before* this wayward page was discovered. *See* TrialTr. 178:20–23. And even if this would have counted as suppression if the extra page had been discovered *after* trial, it was turned over to Cahill *during* trial—so it still could not have been “suppressed” for *Brady* purposes. *See State v. Bishop*, 387 N.W.2d 554, 559 (Iowa 1986) (explaining that *Brady* is not violated when evidence in question is “disclosed during trial and at a meaningful time”); *accord Jackson v. State*, No. 11–0944, 2012 WL 5356081, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 31, 2012) (“Because the letter was produced at trial and Jackson’s attorney had an opportunity to review it and decide what course of action to take, we conclude the evidence was not suppressed.”). This mirrors the court’s finding on the first two prongs of Cahill’s newly-discovered evidence claim: that

these hairs were discussed “in the discovery materials” and Cahill questioned multiple witnesses “about the hair and whether or not it was tested” during trial, so lack of access to this particular page “did not impact [her] opportunity to discover the hair and to discover the opportunity to test the hair.” *See* Sent.Tr. 4:16–5:10; Def’s Ex. F-11.

Second, the fact that analysts had determined that the hairs were not suitable for DNA STR testing was not exculpatory. It favored *the State*, because it meant analysts had tried to test those hairs with techniques that were available, and had not failed for lack of trying. *See* Case Report (11/19/19); App. 340 (noting that “[t]he *Ware* case in Tennessee in 1996 was the first case in the United States where mitochondrial DNA evidence was introduced at trial” and reporting that, as of 1998, “[t]he FBI Crime Lab is currently the only lab in the United States preparing this work for use in the U.S. court system”). Cahill shared that view during trial, and she was satisfied that the proper remedy for its late discovery should be that it would not be admissible as part of the State’s case. *See* TrialTr. 179:11–180:11. Nothing in this record is useful for Cahill’s defense, which is why she did not use it. Thus, Cahill’s unpreserved *Brady* claim would fail on the last two prongs of the *Brady* analysis.

Alternatively, Cahill's claim might be that mtDNA test results would be exculpatory. But that claim would be premature, at best. Future testing may show that they *are* Cahill's hairs, which would be damning evidence on the disputed issue of identity. Arguing that DNA testing "*could* have been exculpatory is equivalent to saying such testing is merely *potentially* helpful to the defense." *See Whitsel v. State*, 525 N.W.2d 860, 863 (Iowa 1994) (quoting *Thompson v. State*, 492 N.W.2d 410, 413 (Iowa 1992)). That may be enough for a future application under section 81.10, but it cannot help Cahill prove either a *Brady* violation or a newly-discovered-evidence claim. Cahill was unable to establish any basis for her motion for new trial below, and her unpreserved *Brady* claim fails for the same reason.

The district court also determined that, even if mtDNA testing established that the hairs did not belong to Cahill, Wieneke, or Hotz, it would not create any reasonable probability of a different result. *See Sent.Tr. 5:10–6:6*. This was one of multiple alternative grounds for rejecting Cahill's newly-discovered-evidence claim. This finding referenced the State's argument, which explained:

It is an extraordinarily speculative thing to say that these hairs must have originated in the head of Corey Wieneke's assailant. The crime scene evidence, the injuries to the body made it, I thought, quite clear that Mr. Corey

Wieneke was struck while he was unaware, asleep in bed and rolled out of bed and was finished off while he's laying on the floor. The fact that some hairs stick to his hand along with cat fur and other fibers means nothing. This evidence just because it was seized does not mean it has the potential to be exculpatory. . . . Corey Wieneke was bludgeoned to death and laid dead on the floor of his bedroom. I think the fact that hairs were on his hand said more about how long it had been since they vacuumed than anything else.

See HearingTr. 19:10–20:12. The State does not need to establish that mtDNA results that excluded Cahill, Wieneke, and Hotz as the source of those hairs would not have a reasonable probability of changing the result of the trial, because the ruling stands on other independently sufficient grounds. *See State v. Jefferson*, 545 N.W.2d 248, 249–50 (Iowa 1996) (declining to address materiality and impact because the newly-discovered-evidence claim failed on first two prongs of the test). But Cahill could not prevail on this prong, either. The district court assesses the relative importance of evidence at trial from a superior vantage point, and rulings on materiality or impact receive deference on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Romeo*, 542 N.W.2d 543, 550–51 (Iowa 1996) (“Because the trial judge sat through the trial, he is in a superior position to decide whether the information on the tapes would have changed the result of the trial. Consequently, we give weight to his conclusion that the result would not have been altered had the tapes

been available for use at trial.”); *Miles*, 490 N.W.2d at 799 (“From its closer vantage point the presiding trial court has a clearer view of this crucial question, and we generally yield to its determination.”); *Compiano*, 154 N.W.2d 845, 849 (Iowa 1967) (“The trial court is generally in a better position than we to determine whether evidence, newly discovered, would probably lead to a different verdict upon retrial, and we have often said we will not interfere with its ruling unless it is reasonably clear that such discretion was abused.”). The evidence was clear that there was no struggle preceding this killing, and Wieneke’s dalliances meant that stray hairs could likely be found on his body or on the floor surrounding his bed. Thus, if this Court needs to reach this prong of the analysis, it should still affirm.

B. The recording of Jacque Hazen’s interview only proved that Hazen lied in her trial testimony, when called as a defense witness. It was not exculpatory. It was not concealed from Cahill. And it was only offered as rebuttal evidence.

Cahill argues that prosecutors “withheld the recording of Jacque Hazen’s interview with DCI until after Hazen had testified at the second trial.” *See* Def’s Br. at 25–26. This cannot establish a *Brady* violation because it was not exculpatory. It only proved that Hazen’s testimony was false, which *undermined* Cahill’s defense. *See*

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